IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No.: 2011-CA-00132

CHARLES BENSON, AS HEIR TO THE ESTATE OF JOHN S. BENSON

APPELLANT

V.

NESHOBA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND DELBERT HOSEMANN, SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES

BENSON APPELLANT'S PRINCIPAL BRIEF (ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT FOR THE SIXTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF NESHOBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CALEB E. MAY (MSB# Caleb E. May, Attorney At Law PLLC 422 Center Avenue P.O. Box 388 Philadelphia, Mississippi 39350 (601) 656-4830

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No.: 2011-CA-00132

CHARLES BENSON, AS HEIR TO THE ESTATE OF JOHN S. BENSON

JURISDICTION THROUGH AN OBJECTION TO
	RECLASSIFICATION TO CONDUCT A HEARING ON THE FAIR
	MARKET RENTAL VALUE OF SIXTEENTH SECTION LAND
	BASED ON AN APPRAISAL OF THE FAIR MARKET RENTAL
	VALUE OF SIXTEENTH SECTION LAND?1
CONCLUS	[ON1;
CERTIFICA	ATE OF SERVICE 10

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

Broadhead v. Bonita Lakes Mall, Ltd. Partnership, 702 So.2d 92, 97 (Miss. 1997)13
City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000)6
Hill v. Thompson, 564 So.2d 1, 12 (Miss. 1989)11, 12
Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n,
<i>Inc.</i> , 740 So.2d 925, 929-30 (Miss. 1999)6
Tucker v. Prisock, 791 So.2d 190, 193 (Miss. 2001)
STATUTES:
STATUTES: <i>Miss. Code Ann.</i> §29-3-33
Miss. Code Ann. §29-3-33
Miss. Code Ann. §29-3-33
Miss. Code Ann. §29-3-33

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI No.: 2011-CA-00132

CHARLES BENSON, AS HEIR TO THE ESTATE OF JOHN S. BENSON

APPELLANT

V.

NESHOBA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND DELBERT HOSEMANN, SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This appeal of the Trial Judge's decision to grant the Defendants/Appellees'

Motion to Dismiss involves the following issues on appeal:

- 1. Does the Neshoba County Chancery Court have jurisdiction through an objection to reclassification to enforce the Mississippi Sixteenth Section Statute, *Miss. Code Ann* Section 29-3-39, which requires a one year notice to sixteenth section Leaseholders before reclassification by a school board?
- 2. Does the Neshoba County Chancery Court have jurisdiction to conduct a hearing to determine the appropriate classification of Sixteenth Section land as defined by the Mississippi Sixteenth Section Statute, Miss. Code Ann Section 29-3-33 even if such reclassification does not maximize revenue for the Neshoba County School District?
- 3. Does the Neshoba County Chancery Court have jurisdiction through an objection to reclassification to enforce the Mississippi Sixteenth Section Statutes, Miss. Code Ann Sections 29-3-63(2) and 29-3-65, which provide that, before reclassification and renewal of leases, the Neshoba County School District shall hire a competent appraiser to determine fair market rental value of sixteenth section land?
- 4. Does the Neshoba County Chancery Court have jurisdiction through an objection to reclassification to conduct a hearing on the fair market rental value of sixteenth

section land based on an appraisal of the fair market rental value of sixteenth section land?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of the Proceedings

The Neshoba County School District posted in the Neshoba County Democrat a notice of reclassification of the Sixteenth Section land in Neshoba County that had been leased to John S. Benson. (See Court Record pg. 16) In response to this notice of reclassification, Plaintiff/Appellant, Charles Benson, as heir to John S. Benson and holder of a right to re-lease as provided in Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-53, filed on April 6, 2010 his Objection to Reclassification of Sixteenth Section Land and For Determination of Lease in the Chancery Court of Neshoba County. On the 26th and 27th days of May 2010 the Defendants/Appellees, Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State, filed their Motions to Dismiss and a Memorandum in Support of these Motions to Dismiss. Charles Benson filed his Response to the Motion to Dismiss on June 11, 2010. which was followed by the Secretary of State filing, on June 25, 2010, a Rebuttal of the Secretary of State to Charles Benson's Response to the Secretary of State's Motion to Dismiss. (Ct. Rec. pg. 1-46) The Chancery Court of Neshoba County, Honorable Edward C. Fenwick presiding, set the Motion to Dismiss for hearing, and the Trial Judge heard the Motion on December 8, 2010. (Ct. Rec pg. 47-50) The Trial Judge, after hearing testimony and reviewing the pleadings, granted the Motion to Dismiss, and the Order granting the Motion was filed on January 6, 2011. The Trial Judge specifically ruled in his order that "any objection to reclassification may only seek to show that the final classification determined by the Neshoba County School Board is not the highest and

best use of the land that would maximize value received by the school children of Neshoba County. (Ct. Rec. pg. 48-50) Charles Benson, by and through his Attorney, appealed the Trial Judge's ruling to the Supreme Court of Mississippi. (Ct. Rec. pg. 51)

II. Facts

John S. Benson, natural father of the Plaintiff/Appellant, Charles Benson, executed a lease with the Neshoba County School District for Sixteenth Section land in Neshoba County which was classified farm-residential land as defined under *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-33. The subject Sixteenth Section lease was entered March 4, 1984 and leased, to John Benson for a period of twenty-five (25) years at the annual rent of five dollars (\$5.00) per acre per year, the following described property:

W ½ of NW 1/4 Less 3 acres for the Church and Less all public road right-of-way, being 71 acres, Section 16, Township 11, Range 11, Neshoba County, Mississippi.

This description can be found on that certain Correction Instrument For Sixteenth Section Lease Contract recorded in Deed Book A168 at Page 530 in the Neshoba County Land Records which corrected the subject lease that was recorded in the Neshoba County Land Records in Deed Book A147 at Page 606. (Ct. Rec. pg. 6 and See Trial Transcript pg. 7) Before the 1984 lease, John S. Benson and his family had held and lived on the subject property for over 60 years. (Tr. p. 13) The 1984 lease expired March 4, 2009, but John S. Benson died before the expiration of the lease. (Tr. p. 14) The rights to the Sixteenth Section land transferred to the John Benson's heirsat-law as provided in *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-53.

During the Trial Court's hearing in this matter, Charles Benson testified that his father passed away in 1991, and since that time he and his siblings have enjoyed use of the subject property although none of the siblings have a residence there. The Benson siblings grow food, hunt, ride horses, and stay in the house on the property from time to time. Charles Benson further testified that the siblings hold much sentimental value in the property as it was their home for many years. (Tr. p. 14)

Before the expiration of the 1984 lease, Charles Benson, on behalf of all heirs to John S. Benson, made efforts to re-lease the above described property. (Tr. p. 14) The Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State did not hire an independent appraiser to obtain a fair market rental value of the subject property within one year of the expiration of the lease as required under *Miss. Code Ann.* §§ 29-3-65 and 29-3-63. Neither did the School District or the Secretary of State attempt to reclassify the subject property within one year of the expiration of the lease as required under *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-39. The Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State stated in defense of their failure to perform these requirements was a "procedural mishap" that should be ignored as long as they are maximizing revenue. (Ct. Rec. pg. 19, 21)

After negotiations to re-lease failed, the School District published their Notice of Intent to Reclassify. In this Notice, the School District stated their intent to change the classification of the subject property from farm-residential to forest lands. (Ct. Rec. pg. 3)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court of Neshoba County should have barred reclassification of the subject property because neither the Neshoba County School District nor the Secretary

of State sought reclassification within one (1) year prior to the expiration date of the subject lease as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-39.

Should the Appellate Court find that the Neshoba Chancery Court does not have jurisdiction to hear and rule on the violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-39, the Appellate Court should find, alternatively, that the Trial Judge has been given authority to "either confirm or modify the classification as the circumstances shall demand." Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37; and under this authority and jurisdiction the Trial Judge should have determined which classification best fits the Benson Property under the definitions provided in Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-33. In determining this "best fit" the Trial Court should have taken into consideration the current and recent use of the property, the prior lease holders' improvements and buildings on the property, and the prior lease holders' right to re-lease the land. Because the Benson Property was most recently used as recreational land by the leaseholders (recreational land being defined as: "land most suitable for uses which provide for activities or services of a recreational nature") the Trial Judge should have found that the land was best suited under a Recreational classification.

The Trial Judge should have also found jurisdiction to order the Neshoba County School District to hire competent appraiser to determine fair market rental value of sixteenth section land under Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-65 which states that "one (1) year prior to the date, when any such lands, not subject to competitive bid procedures, shall become available for lease, the board of education shall appoint a competent appraiser to appraise the land and report to the board his recommendation for the fair market rental amount." After enforcing the requirement of Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-65, the Trial Court should have found jurisdiction to conduct a hearing on determining the fair

market rental value based on the ordered appraisal with such hearing to ensure that the appraisal was based upon proper standards of appraising the rental value of sixteenth section land. In making this determination, the Trial Court should have also looked to *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-63 which states:

"The board of education shall not lease or extend a lease on land classified as industrial or commercial at an annual rental less than five percent (5%) of the current market value, exclusive of buildings or improvements not owned by the school district. Such minimum acceptable percentage shall not apply to land classified as farm-residential, residential, recreational and other land; however, fair market rental will apply to those lands as determined by appraisal, comparative analysis or comparison with the private sector."

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has clearly held that it "reviews errors of law, which include summary judgments and motions to dismiss, de novo." City of Jackson v. Perry, 764 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss. 2000). See also Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n, Inc., 740 So.2d 925, 929-30 (Miss. 1999) (reiterating de novo review of chancellor's summary judgment).

Accordingly, this Honorable Court will be reviewing under a de novo standard because the issues originally presented to the Trial Judge were not heard on the merits but were dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE DEFENDANTS'/APPELLEES' MOTION TO DISMISS BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT DOES HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THE SUBJECT MATTER OF ENFORCING THE PROVISIONS OF THE MISSISSIPPI SIXTEENTH SECTION STATUTE, MISS. CODE ANN. SECTIONS 29-3-39, WHICH REQUIRES ONE YEAR NOTICE TO SIXTEENTH SECTION LEASEHOLDERS BEFORE RECLASSIFICATION BY THE SCHOOL BOARD?

The Neshoba County School District neglected their duties to ensure that they met the requirements of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-39 which requires the following:

"[A]ll sixteenth section land shall be classified, or reclassified as is necessary, within one (1) year prior to the expiration date of any existing lease, and within sixty (60) days of the terminating of any lease of sixteenth section land by final court order.

"It shall be the duty of the board of education to survey periodically the classification of all sixteenth section land under its jurisdiction and to reclassify said land as it may deem advisable because of changes of conditions."

Their failure to perform the reclassification and other statutory duties resulted in the present litigation.

The Neshoba County School District should have performed their reclassification prior to the expiration of the Benson lease in March of 2009. In addition the Neshoba County School District should have granted an extension of the existing Benson Lease at its present classification and rent payments until they could meet the procedures required under the statutes for reclassification and determination of fair market rental value.

Nevertheless, the Trial Judge should have made a decision on whether the Neshoba County School District had proposed the correct classification for the Benson Property.

III. DOES THE NESHOBA COUNTY CHANCERY COURT HAVE JURISDICTION TO CONDUCT A HEARING TO DETERMINE THE APPROPRIATE CLASSIFICATION OF SIXTEENTH SECTION LAND UNDER THE DEFINITIONS OF CLASSIFICATIONS OF THE MISSISSIPPI SIXTEENTH SECTION STATUTE, MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 29-3-33, EVEN IF SUCH RECLASSIFICATION DOES NOT MAXIMIZE REVENUE FOR THE NESHOBA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT?

The Neshoba County School District proposed "forest land" as the appropriate "reclassification" for the Benson Property. (Ct. Rec. pg. 3) "Forest Land" is defined under *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-33(a) which provides:

"Forest land" shall mean all land at least ninety percent (90%) of the total area of which is at present forest or wasteland, or land which will produce a maximum of revenue by utilization to produce timber or other forest products, shall be classified as forest land. The unit of measurement to be used in arriving at the classification of forest land shall be the smallest division of the government survey covering said lands in counties where such government survey has been made, and in other counties shall be forty (40) acres."

In granting the Motion to Dismiss for lack of jurisdiction the Trial Judge held that "any objection to reclassification may only seek to show that the final classification determined by the Neshoba County School Board is not the highest and best use of the land that would maximize value received by the school children of Neshoba County." (Ct. Rec. pg. 49-50, emphasis added) Based on such language, the Trial Judge

essentially ruled that the definitions provided in *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-33 can be routinely ignored as long as a classification maximizes revenue. Such a usurpation of clearly worded legislation should not be allowed.

Under a maximization of revenue standard like the one handed down by the Trial Judge, School Boards could reclassify and renegotiate valid leases whenever a better offer came along. The classifications and procedures for classifying land and setting fair market rental value that are set out in Mississippi's Sixteenth Section Statutes tell a different story than that of simply being able to win on a maximization of revenue argument. For example, *Miss. Code Ann.* § 29-3-33 states:

"For the purpose of determining the proper category for such lands and the oil, gas and other minerals in, on and under such lands, the following definitions shall be *controlling* unless the context clearly indicates otherwise"

(Emphasis Added)

There would be no need for the word "controlling" if a School Board or the Secretary of State can defeat an objection to reclassification by merely arguing that their proposed classification maximized revenue as opposed to the property meeting the definition of their proposed classification.

"It shall be the duty of the board of education to survey periodically the classification of all sixteenth section land under its jurisdiction and to reclassify said land as it may deem advisable because of changes of conditions." Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-39 (emphasis added) Charles Benson admits that there are no permanent residents on the Benson property and, therefore, conditions have changed requiring a change of classification. At the Trial Court hearing, Charles Benson testified that the Benson

Property was fifty percent wooded and fifty percent fields. The Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State attached to their Motion to Dismiss two affidavits of persons who were not present at the hearing of the Motion to Dismiss and therefore not accepted by the Trial Court as competent appraisers of the fair market rental value of Sixteenth Section land. (Ct. Rec. pg. 31-35) Other than those affidavits, the Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State failed to present any proof that the land met the definition of their proposed classification.

Before filing the reclassification, the Neshoba County School District should have looked at the property and then to the definitions of the classifications, as the definitions are controlling pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-33, and if they did not feel qualified to make a determination then they should have hired an independent professional to make the call. Instead, the School District erroneously labeled the property "forest land" and later at the hearing of the Motion to Dismiss, Charles Benson testified that it was not. With Mr. Benson's testimony the only real evidence of under scrutiny at the hearing, the Trial Judge should have required the Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State to present witnesses as to how the conditions of the Benson property met the definition of forest land. After such hearing on the conditions of the land the Trial Judge should have determined which classification best fit the Benson Property.

IV. DOES THE NESHOBA COUNTY CHANCERY COURT HAVE JURISDICTION THROUGH AN OBJECTION TO RECLASSIFICATION TO ENFORCE THE MISSISSIPPI SIXTEENTH SECTION STATUTES, MISS. CODE ANN. SECTIONS 29-3-63(2) AND 29-3-65, WHICH PROVIDE THAT, BEFORE RECLASSIFICATION AND RENEWAL OF LEASES, THE NESHOBA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT SHALL HIRE A COMPETENT APPRAISER TO DETERMINE FAIR MARKET RENTAL VALUE OF SIXTEENTH SECTION LAND?

The Trial Judge should have determined the correct classification and then ordered the Neshoba County School District to hire a competent appraiser to determine the fair market rental value of the Benson Property. At the Motion to Dismiss hearing, the Neshoba County School District and the Secretary of State continually reiterated their duty to maximize revenue for the school children. (Tr. pg. 7, 8, 25, 32, 34) Charles Benson agrees with such duty of the school board but does argue that revenue is not on its way to maximization until that revenue is appropriately determined. Further, the Mississippi Sixteenth Section Statutes provide guidelines and limits on how to achieve maximization of revenue through the land classification statutes, as argued in the preceding sections of this brief, and requirement of appraisals.

The Benson family had been paying rent on the Benson Property for the term of the lease. Regardless of the classification, the Benson family has the right to re-lease the property and match the highest bid of received for the property. Tucker v. Prisock, 791 So.2d 190, 193 (Miss. 2001) (if it shall have made an offer, [the most recent holder] shall have the final right to extend its lease for the term advertised at the annual rental equal to said highest offer received by the Board of Education." (emphasis added)); Hill v. Thompson, 564 So.2d 1, 12 (Miss. 1989) (Equity dictates, however, that while the appraisal process is in process that appellee shall have the use of the premises in question and the right of first refusal of the new lease and the right to meet the best bid

when the rental value is determined.) Before any bidding process on the Benson Property can take place and before the school board can accurately determine what rent it can charge, they must have an appraisal of the fair market rental value of the Benson Property. Miss. Code Ann. §§ 29-3-63(2) and 29-3-65.

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