IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2011-CA-00132

CHARLES BENSON AS HEIR TO THE ESTATE OF JOHN S. BENSON

Appellant

٧.

NESHOBA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND DELBERT HOSEMANN, SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

Appellees

On Appeal from the Chancery Court for the Sixth Judicial District of Neshoba County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

L. CHRISTOPHER LOMAX,

MSB NO**REAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL** Office of the Attorney General Post Office Box 220 Jackson, MS 39205 Telephone No. (601) 359-5654 Facsimile No. (601) 359-2003

Attorney for the Secretary of State

TABLE OF CONTENT	<u>'S</u>

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

interfere with ongoing agency determinations as violating separation of powers and premature.

Even so, Benson's classification objection and procedure objection would also fail as matters of law. Initially, the land was properly classified as "forest lands". Additionally, Benson argues on the one hand that the land cannot be reclassified because it was not done so within a statutory window; but, on the other hand, Benson does not object that the subject property must be reclassified because its "farm residential" classification is no longer valid. In fact, Benson has confessed the land must be reclassified and has requested the land be reclassified as "recreational land". While the property was not reclassified during the one year leading up to the expiration of Benson's lease, the State has a further, affirmative statutory duty to reclassify "farm residential" property when it is determined to no longer be used as a residence. In this case, the apparently conflicting statutes (one requiring reclassification and one seemingly prohibiting it) must therefore be read *in pari materia*. In that case, it is logical that the statutory window does not apply because the State is not reclassifying an "existing" lease, as stated in Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-39 (1978).

Accordingly, the finding of the Chancellor below, that Benson's objections and requests for relief were without jurisdiction under Section 29-3-37, were premature, and were a violation of separation of powers, should all be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate courts apply a limited standard of review on appeals from chancery court. <u>Reddell v. Reddell</u>, 696 So.2d 287, 288 (Miss. 1997). It should not interfere with the chancellor's findings of fact unless they were "manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." <u>Bell v. Parker</u>, 563 So.2d 594, 596–97 (Miss. 1990). However, the chancery court's interpretation and application of the law is reviewed under a *de novo* standard. <u>In re Carney</u>, 758 So.2d 1017, 1019 (Miss. 2000).

DETERMINATIONS BEING REVIEWED

The Chancellor heard testimony that the subject property could collect \$75 or more per acre per year, if the land in question is classified as "forest lands". [Tr. at p.10; Tr. at p.5:24-29 (directing Court to affidavit of Forestry Consultant, which establishes the \$75 price cited by counsel throughout hearing)]. Benson never testified that he could establish another classification which would best the \$75 price cited by the State. Moreover, Benson never offered anything other than a long term, \$15 per acre per year price for the property, whatever the classification.

Consequently, this Court should find that the Chancellor was correct in his legal finding that "any objection to reclassification may only seek to show the final classification determined by Neshoba County School Board is not the highest and best use of the land that would maximize value received by the school children of Neshoba County." [R. at 49-50]; *see also* <u>Talley v. Carter</u>, 318 So.2d 835, 839 (Miss. 1975) (holding the same); *and* Frierson, July 18, 1997, Miss. A.G. Op. #97-0431 ("the board of education has a duty to reclassify the land on its highest and best use...for producing a maximum of revenue.").

Further, this Court should find that the Chancellor was correct in finding Benson's additional relief requiring the Chancellor to insert himself into ongoing agency proceedings was also beyond the power of the chancery. [Tr. at p.46:12-16, 29, p.47:1-10]; *See* <u>State Oil</u> <u>& Gas Board v. McGowan</u>, 542 So.2d 244, 249 (Miss. 1989) ("[T]he Chancery Court has *no jurisdiction* to participate in the administrative process and it was error to do so when the effect amounted to an intervention in the pending proceeding.").

ARGUMENT

After a hearing on the State's Motions to Dismiss, the Chancellor correctly found that his court was (1) without jurisdiction to entertain Benson's objections to the classification of the trust land, or (2) the authority to award any of Benson's requested relief. The only decision a chancellor can make under Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37 (1983) is to confirm or modify a sixteenth section land classification as the circumstances demand; yet, even that jurisdiction is limited to modifications which will maximize revenues received by the trust land. Such jurisdiction does not permit the chancery to classify sixteenth section land in the first place, order an appraisal, or determine the fair market rental of the property.

The Chancellor, therefore, correctly dismissed all of Benson's objections and claims. First, because Benson's objection to the State's reclassification would diminish the revenue received, not maximize it, the chancery court was without jurisdiction to review his objections under the Sixteenth Section jurisdictional statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37. Second, the Court correctly found it was without jurisdiction to provide any of Benson's remaining relief (outside his objection to the classification) because Benson's requests were premature and would be a violation of separation of powers. Third and finally, even if Benson could challenge the State's classification of his property, despite not challenging to maximize value, his objections to both the classification chosen and the timing of the classification are without merit. Consequently, this Court should affirm both of the Chancellor's findings of lack of jurisdiction.

I. Benson's objection to the State's reclassification of the subject property would diminish the revenue received and therefore it is without jurisdiction before the chancery court.

The Supreme Court and the Sixteenth Section statutes are clear: the issue to be addressed in a reclassification challenge is whether there is a change in condition of the subject property which would justify a change to a more suitable classification in order to produce a maximum of revenue. Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-39 (1978) (imposing a duty to reclassify because of changes in conditions); *and see* Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-1 (1978) (imposing a duty to assure adequate compensation is received for trust lands). Indeed, the Supreme Court has affirmatively stated, "[r]eading the several sections of the Act together, it is clear that any changes of conditions which would justify a reclassification must be changes that would require a reclassification to a more suitable use in order to produce a maximum of revenue." Talley, 318 So.2d 835, 839.

The Supreme Court in <u>Talley</u> further expressed the limited role the courts play in reclassification hearings:

The judicial review of the action of the Land Commissioner^[5] in reclassifying 16th section lands *is limited to* a determination of whether or not the reclassification is required in order to produce a maximum of revenue.

⁵ The Secretary of State replaced the Land Commissioner as the entity with the ultimate authority over public lands and the general supervisory powers originally vested in the State Land Commissioner as to Sixteenth Section Land has likewise been transferred to the Secretary of State. *See generally* <u>Turney v. Marion Co. Bd. of Education</u>, 481 So. 2d 770, 776-77 (Miss. 1985).

<u>Id</u>. (emphasis and footnote added). Benson is only willing to pay \$15.00 per acre per year on a renewed lease of the subject property. Thus, Benson is seeking to reclassify the subject property to a classification which would diminish the revenue received by the property, not maximize the revenues received. Such an objection is not within the jurisdiction of an *Objection to Classification* pursuant to Section 29-3-37, according to Mississippi Supreme Court's precedent.

In an attempt to have the courts create a meeting of the minds between himself and the State on a renegotiation of his expired lease, Benson brought this underlying action as an *Objection to Classification* pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37. However, Benson's attempt to reclassify the subject property as some other classification cannot find jurisdiction under Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37. Benson's objection does not find jurisdiction under Section 29-3-37 because his objection does not seek to maximize the value realized by the subject trust property, but rather to diminish the revenue that would be collected by the trust land.

The Chancellor, therefore, properly found the Court lacked jurisdiction to hear Benson's *Objection to Reclassification of Land*, finding "any objection to reclassification may only seek to show the final classification determined by Neshoba County School Board is not the highest and best use of the land that would maximize value received by the school children of Neshoba County." [R. at 49-50]. In other words, until Benson, or any other person, offers another proper classification which would collect **more revenue** than the proposed "forest land" classification, that person cannot challenge the State's determination of that property's classification as "forest land".

Accordingly, this Court should uphold the Chancellor's finding that Benson's objection to the "forest land" classification is without jurisdiction and the objection was correctly dismissed.

II. Benson's requests for the Court to reclassify the land, hire an independent appraiser, and make fair market value determinations would violate separation of powers and are premature.

As stated in the beginning, Benson's sole objective is for the courts to create a meeting of the minds between the State and himself on a lease contract regarding the subject property.⁶ The only catch is that Benson will not pay more than \$15.00 per acre per year. Benson continually harps on his "rights in the property", however, the only right Benson has is the right of first refusal. He has no right to dictate the price for which the State leases its own property. The Benson's right to release is codified at Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-63(1) (1978): "[t]he holder of a lease of sixteenth section or lieu land, at the expiration thereof, shall have a prior right, exclusive of all other persons, to re-lease or to extend an existing lease *as may be agreed upon* between the holder of the lease and board of education *subject to the classification of said land.*" (emphasis added).

⁶ The Secretary in his *Motion to Dismiss* before the Chancery Court argued that the Court could not force a meeting of the minds between two parties seeking to contract. [R. at p.26-28]. Below, Benson was seeking relief which would force a meeting of the minds between the State and Benson to release the subject property. The Secretary argued that while Benson had the right to release the property, the right still required that the lease "be agreed upon between the holder of the lease and the board of education," Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-63(1) – meaning the right of first refusal still requires all the traditional elements of a contract. [Id.]. The Mississippi courts have held that when the courts are asked to fashion the formation of contract, the petitioner has failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted: "This relief is legally impermissible" and "[a] Court, as a matter of law, cannot fashion such a remedy because the formation of a contract requires mutual assent, often referred to as a 'meeting of the minds.'" <u>Wiggins v. Perry</u>, 989 So.2d 419, 429 (Miss.App. 2008) (*citing* <u>Rotenberry v. Hooker</u>, 864 So.2d 266, 270 (Miss. 2003). Thus, the Chancellor could have dismissed on failure to state a claim grounds as well as the failure to find jurisdiction grounds, which he cited.

The Court correctly stated that it did not have the statutory authority to order an appraisal, to hold a hearing to determine the classification of the property in the first place, or to determine the fair market value of the property. The Court further correctly found that it is only after classification that Benson may agree with the State's requested lease price and have a chance at first refusal:

[The Court]: Well, I don't want to do what the law says I can't do. ...

One, that [Benson's] asking me to do some things that under the statute I cannot do. And, specifically, that I'm being asked to reject the classification proposed by the school board. Two, require the Neshoba County School Board to hire an independent appraiser for the determination of the fair market rental value of the subject land.

Three, to hold a hearing to determine the classification of the subject land. And, four, to hold a hearing to determine the fair market value of the subject land.

I think that the position of the secretary of state and the school board is correct that at least as to those last three things, I cannot do that. I don't think I have the legal authority to do it.

I think we are in kind of a circular argument here. We've got to get the land reclassified in order to go forward with any appraisal process that's done.

[The Court]: Okay. All right. Based on that, I sustain the motion to dismiss ..., but authorize the school board to do its reclassification.

* * * *

At that point, they'll have to see if Mr. Benson - - or Mr. Benson and his family will have to do a little soul searching to see if they are able to come to an agreement with [the State].

[Tr. at p.46:12-16, 29, p.47:1-10 (spacing added)]. Accordingly, the Chancellor in his opinion ordered the State to continue the process of reclassification so as the State could then appraise the land for a value under the "forest land" classification and then lease the property, whether to the Benson's or someone else. [R. at p.49].

A. Benson's requests would violate separation of powers.

To begin with, Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37 limits jurisdiction to objections to classifications, it does not give the Court jurisdiction to assist in the determination of the fair market rental value of the subject property. The duty to determine the fair market value for leases is solely that of the School Boards, who have "the final authority, duty, and responsibility to determine the reasonable annual rental amount to be assessed on sixteenth section lands." <u>Barber v, Turney</u>, 423 So.2d 133, 135 (Miss. 1982); *see also* Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-1 ("It shall be the duty of the board of education to manage the school trust lands and all funds arising therefrom as trust property."); *and* Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-65 (1992) ("The board shall then determine whether [an appraiser's recommendation] be a reasonable amount."). The court's role in judicial review under Section 29-3-37 is to determine if the school board's classification or reclassification is reasonable to maximize revenue from sixteenth section lands – not to determine the fair market rental values for the land.

Likewise, the chancery court has no more jurisdiction to hold a hearing to determine the classification of the subject land than it does to determine the fair market value. That duty again is the sole "duty of the board of education, using the services of all appropriate public agencies." Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-31. The role of the chancery court is to review a classification to determine whether that classification maximizes revenues from that particular trust property. Miss. Code Ann. § 29-3-37. The chancery courts are not given original jurisdiction authorizing them to determine the proper classifications of sixteenth section lands. Such specific powers are given to the secretary of state and the board of education. In fact, the Supreme Court has expressly prohibited such interference as violating separation of powers.

It is a bedrock principle of Mississippi law that courts cannot interject themselves into ongoing administrative agency processes. In <u>State Oil & Gas Board v. McGowan</u>, 542 So.2d 244 (Miss. 1989), the Supreme Court held that courts may only exercise appellate review of agency decisions and have no authority to intervene in administrative proceedings. <u>Id</u>. at 249. In <u>McGowan</u>, the plaintiff was involved in a proceeding before the State Oil & Gas Board and had his request for discovery denied by the Board. <u>Id</u>. at 245. Before the scheduled hearing took place before the Board, the plaintiff filed suit in chancery court, asking the court to order the Board to disclose all of the information he had previously sought. <u>Id</u>. The Board filed a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction, which the court denied. <u>Id</u>. at 246. The Board then appealed that denial to the Supreme Court. <u>Id</u>. The Supreme Court held that the chancery court did not have jurisdiction over the plaintiff's claims:

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